A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 

Timothy Conover asks this Court to review the opinion of the 

Court of Appeals in State v. Conover, No. 44175-6-11, filed August 26, 

2014. A copy is attached as Appendix A. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the Court of Appeals wrongly held that an inadvertent 

locking of a courtroom during trial - no matter how long - does not 

constitute a "closure" implicating the constitutional right to a public trial. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

2. Whether this Court should discourage the use of the bracketed 

language in WPIC 4.01, which tells jurors they should convict if they have 

"an abiding beliefin the truth ofthe charge," because ajury'sjob is not to 

fmd the truth but to determine whether the State has proved its case 

beyond a reasonable doubt. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

3. Whether the sentencing court erred in running the bus-zone 

enhancements for each cotmt consecutively rather than concurrently, 

where the legislatw·e did not amend the relevant statute the way it 

amended the weapons enhancement statute, which mandates that such 

enhancements run "consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, 

including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements, for all offenses 

sentenced under this chapter." RAP 13.4(b)(4). 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Police arrested Virgil Kell for delivering drugs. 1 RP 33.1 He 

wanted to "work off' the charges, so he agreed to arrange drug 

transactions with other people, including Timothy Conover. 1 RP 33-34. 

Police used Kell for "controlled buys" with Mr. Conover on May 13, May 

31, and July 7, 2011. 1 RP 35, 71, 79. Each time, Kell said he purchased 

a quarter-ounce ofheroin from Mr. Conover for $350-$400. 1 RP 35, 71, 

79. 

The State charged Mr. Conover with three counts of delivering a 

controlled substance. The State alleged that a zone enhancement applied 

to each count, because each occurred within 1,000 feet of a school bus 

stop. CP 12-13. 

At trial, Virgil Kell and multiple police officers testified that Mr. 

Conover delivered a quarter-ounce of heroin to Kell on three occasions. 1 

RP 28-100; 2 RP 8-112. After both sides rested their cases, the court 

instructed the jury. 2 RP 112-26. 

Just as the court finished instructing the jury, it became apparent 

that the main door to the courtroom had been locked for approximately 

1 1RP refers to the volume of proceedings from 10/11112. 2 RP 
refers to the volume of proceedings from 10/12/12 and 10/15/12. 3 RP 
refers to the small volume consisting of short pretrial hearings on 
12/14/11, 6/6/12, and 8/23, 12, as well as sentencing on 10/24/12. 
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half an hour while the proceedings were on the record. 2 RP 17 5-77. 

Security had locked the doors during the lunch break and forgotten to 

unlock them when trial started again. 2 RP 176-77. It was not until 

someone rattled the door that the participants realized there was a 

problem. 2 RP 176. The door had been locked the entire time the cowt 

instructed the jury. 2 RP 177. 

The court was disinclined to cure the error, stating it was "an 

inadvertent closure of the court and it was for a limited amount of time." 

2 RP 176. The court also stated that the ideals furthered by the public-trial 

right were not harmed by having the doors locked while the court 

instructed the jury, since no testimony was taken during that time. 2 RP 

177-78. Thus, the court did not reinstruct the jury in an open cowtroom. 

The jury convicted Mr. Conover as charged. CP 49-58. The 

sentencing court concluded Mr. Conover's offender score was five, and 

that the standard range was 20-60 months for each count. CP 61-62. 

The cowt imposed an enhanced sentence because the jury found 

Mr. Conover committed each count within 1000 feet of a school bus zone. 

CP 60-65. At the prosecutor's urging, the court imposed the two-year 

enhancements consecutively. It ruled that for each count, the base 

sentence was 48 months and the enhancements totaled 72 months. 3 RP 

19. The court ruled the base sentences would be served concurrently, but 
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stacked the enhancements and ordered Mr. Conover to serve ten years in 

prison. CP 65. 

Mr. Conover appealed, raising several issues. The State conceded 

error on one sentencing issue, and the Court of Appeals accepted the 

concession. However, the Cowi of Appeals rejected all other issues Mr. 

Conover raised. As to the violation of the right to an open court, the Court 

of Appeals held that because the trial court did not mean to lock the doors, 

"no courtroom closure occurred" - even though the cowtroom was, in 

fact, locked for 30 minutes while the court instructed the jury. Slip Op. at 

9. The court held that the trial court properly rejected the defense 

proposed instruction on the reasonable doubt standard, and did not agree 

that the instruction misstates the jury's role by equating proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt with "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." Slip 

Op. at 9-10. The Court of Appeals also disagreed with Mr. Conover's 

statutory construction argument with respect to the bus zone 

enhancements. It held that such enhancements must be run consecutively 

to the base sentences and to each other. Slip Op. at 11-13. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. The Court of Appeals held that the right to a public trial is not 
implicated if the courtroom is locked inadvertently - no matter 
how long- raising a significant question of constitutional law. 

The First and Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution 

and article I, sections 10 and 22 ofthe Washington Constitution guarantee 

the right to a public trial. U.S. Const. amends. I, VI; Const. art. I, §§ 10, 

22; State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). Thus, before 

closing a courtroom during proceedings, the trial court must: 

1. identify a compelling interest that the closure is 
essential to protect and show a "serious and imminent 
threat" to that compelling interest; 

2. provide anyone present with the opportunity to object; 

3. ensure that the method for curtailing open access is the 
least restrictive means available for protecting the 
threatened interests; 

4. weigh the competing interests of the proponent of the 
closure and the public; and 

5. ensure that the closure is no broader in its application or 
duration than necessary to serve its purpose. 

State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254,258-59,906 P.2d 325 (1995). 

In this case, the courtroom doors were locked for almost half an 

hour while the comi instructed the jury. Security officers had locked the 

doors over the lunch break and forgotten to unlock them before 
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proceedings recommenced. It was not until an assertive person rattled the 

door that the participants realized the en·or and unlocked the doors. 

The court had not evaluated the Bone-Club factors because it had 

not planned to lock the courtroom during the trial. Upon discovering the 

problem, though, the court chose not to cure the constitutional violation. 

The judge said the violation was "harmless" because it was "an 

inadvertent closure of the court and it was for a limited amount oftime" 

during which no testimony was taken. 2 RP 176-78. Thus, the court did 

not reinstruct the jury in an open courtroom. 

The trial court e!1'ed because public-trial violations cannot be 

deemed "harmless" or "de minimis". To begin with, the fact that the 

closure occu!1'ed while the court was instructing the jury as opposed to 

taking testimony is irrelevant. "The public trial right extends beyond the 

taking of a witness's testimony at trial." State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 

167, 174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). Every part of the trial is subject to the 

open-courtroom guarantee. Id. at 178 (because of our interest in 

protecting the transparency and fairness of criminal trials, "all stages of 

cowtroom proceedings [must] remain open unless the trial cowi identifies 

a compelling interest to be served by closure") (emphasis added); Const. 

ati. I, § § 10, 22. Indeed, even pre-trial proceedings like voir dire and 

suppression hearings must be open to the public. See Orange, 152 Wn.2d 

6 



at 812; Bone~Club, 128 Wn.2d at 257. Clearly, the constitutional right to a 

public trial includes the right to an open comiroom while the judge 

instructs the jury. Commonwealth v. Patry, 48 Mass. App. Ct. 470, 474, 

722 N.E.2d 979 (2000) (reversing where judge gave supplemental 

instruction to jury in jury room instead of in open courtroom). 

The Comt of Appeals affirmed on the basis that the closme was 

inadvertent- holding that in such circumstances the constitution is not 

implicated because "no courtroom closure occun·ed." Slip Op. at 9. This 

makes no sense. The fact that the trial judge did not intend for something 

to happen does not mean that it did not, in fact, happen. See State v. 

Vanness, 304 Wis. 692, 699, 738 N.W.2d 154 (Wis. 2007) ("the court's 

intent is iiTelevant to determining whether the accused's right to a public 

trial has been violated"). Imagine ifthe bailiff had locked the courtroom 

doors without the judge's knowledge for the entire trial instead of for half 

an hour. Could one really claim ''there was no closure"? 

Other courts have held that "a courtroom closure can occm· even in 

the absence of an explicit court order." State v. Njonge, 161 Wn. App. 

568, 575, 255 P.3d 753 (2011), rev. granted 176 Wn.2d 1031 (2013). 

Even under the federal constitution, "[w]hether the closure was intentional 

or inadvertent is constitutionally iiTelevant." Walton v. Briley, 361 F.3d 

431,433 (71h Cir. 2004). It should certainly be irrelevant under our more~ 
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protective state constitution, which has no "de minimis" exception to the 

open courts requirement. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 181 n.12; State v. 

Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 32-37,288 P.3d 1126 (2012) (reversing for 

public trial violation even though only four jurors were briefly questioned 

during voir dire outside public courtroom). 

The courtroom in this case was locked for approximately half an 

hour during a portion of proceedings that is presumptively open to the 

public. Whether the closure was purposeful or inadvertent should be 

irrelevant to the question of whether the constitutional right to open courts 

is implicated. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

2. This Court should take the opportunity to disapprove of the 
final, bracketed language in WPIC 4.01, because it is 
inconsistent with this Court's holding that the jury's job is not 
to find the truth but to determine whether the State proved its 
case. 

A jury's role is not to search for the truth. State v. Emery, 174 

Wn.2d 741,760,278 P.3d 653 (2012); see also State v. Berube, 171 Wn. 

App. 103,286 P.3d 402,411 (2012) ("truth is not the jury's job. And 

arguing that the jury should search for truth and not for reasonable doubt 

both misstates the jury's duty and sweeps aside the State's burden"). 

Instead, the job of the jury "is to determine whether the State has proved 

the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 

760. 
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Over Mr. Conover's objection, the trial court instructed the jury 

that proof beyond a reasonable doubt means that, after considering the 

evidence, the jurors had "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." CP 

29 (Instruction 3); CP 20 (defense proposed instruction without this 

language); 2 RP 3-4. By equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with a 

"belief in the truth" of the charge, the court confused the critical role of 

the jury. The "belief in the truth" language encourages the jury to 

undertake an impermissible search for the truth and invites the error 

identified in Emery. 

The presumption of innocence may be diluted or even "washed 

away" by confusing jury instructions. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 

315-16, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). It is the court's obligation to vigilantly 

protect the presumption of innocence. !d. In Bennett, this Court found the 

reasonable doubt instruction derived from State v. Castle, 86 Wn. App. 48, 

53, 935 P.2d 656 (1997), was "problematic" as it was inaccurate and 

misleading. 161 Wn.2d at 317-18. Exercising its "inherent supervisory 

powers," the Court directed trial courts to use WPIC 4.01 in all future 

cases. Id. at 318. 

That pattern instruction reads: 

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts 
in issue every element of the crime charged. The State is the 
plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime 
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beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of 
proving that a reasonable doubt exists. 

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues 
throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find 
it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. 

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may 
arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as 
would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, 
and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. 
[If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth 
of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt]. 

11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 

4.01, at 85 (3rct ed. 2008) ("WPIC"). 

The Bennett Court did not comment on the bracketed "belief in the 

truth" language. However, recent cases show the problematic nature of 

such language. In Emery, the prosecution told the jury that "your verdict 

should speak the truth," and "the tmth ofthe matter is, the truth of these 

charges, are that" the defendants are guilty. 174 Wn.2d at 751. These 

remarks misstated the jury's role, but because they were not part of the 

court's instructions, and the evidence was overwhelming, the en-or was 

harmless. !d. at 764 n.14. 

In Pirtle, the Court held that the ••abiding belief' language did not 

"diminish" the pattern instruction defining reasonable doubt. State v. 

Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 657-58, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). The Court ruled that 

the "[a]ddition of the last sentence [regarding having an abiding belief in 
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the truth] was unnecessary but was not an error." Id. at 658. The Pirtle 

Court did not focus its attention on whether this language encouraged the 

jury to view its role as searching for the tmth. Id. at 657-58. Instead, it 

was addressing whether the phrase "abiding belief' was different from 

proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. 

The Pirtle Court concluded that this language was unnecessary but 

not erroneous, which is far from an endorsement of the language. Yet 

Emery demonstrates the danger of injecting a search for the truth into the 

definition of the State's burden of proof. This language invites the jury to 

be confused about its role and serves as a platform for improper arguments 

about the jury's role in looking for the truth, as explained in Emery. 174 

Wn.2d at 760. 

This Comt has a supervisory role in ensuring the jury's instructions 

fairly and accurately convey the law. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d at 318. This 

Court should grant review and hold that directing the jury to treat proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt as the equivalent of having an "abiding belief 

in the truth of the charge" misstates the prosecution's burden of proof, 

confuses the jury's role, and denies an accused person his right to a fair 

trial by jury as protected by the state and federal constitutions. 
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3. This Court should address whether zone enhancements must 
be run consecutively to each other because it is an important 
issue of statutory construction. 

As noted above, the sentencing court calculated Mr. Conover's 

offender score as a five, which resulted in a standard range of20-60 

months. CP 62; RCW 9.94A.517, .518. The jury had also found that Mr. 

Conover committed each of the three current offenses within a school-bus 

zone, resulting in a two-year enhancement for each count. CP 50, 53, 56; 

RCW 9.94A.533(6). However, instead of increasing the standard range 

for each count to 44-84 months and imposing concurrent sentences within 

that enhanced range, the sentencing court ruled that the enhancements 

were supposed to run consecutively to one another. At the prosecutor's 

urging, the court imposed 10 years on each count, consisting of "48 

months on each ... plus 72 months in enhancements on each for a total of 

120, all concurrent." 3 RP 19. Mr. Conover submits was en-or. 

The issue is one of statutory construction, a question of law this 

Court reviews de novo. State v. Engel, 166 Wn.2d 572, 576, 210 P.3d 

1007 (2009). In determining the meaning of a statute, courts look first to 

the text; if the statute is clear on its face, its meaning is to be derived from 

the language alone. State v. Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d 169, 174, 240 P.3d 1158 

(2010). If the statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable 

interpretation, "we may resort to statutory construction, legislative history, 
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and relevant case law for assistance in discerning legislative intent." State 

v. Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 820,239 P.3d 354 (2010) (internal citation 

omitted). Where a statute is ambiguous, the mle of lenity requires it be 

interpreted strictly against the State and in favor of the accused. State v. 

Mullins, 128 Wn. App. 633, 642, 116 P.3d 441 (2005). 

The statute governing enhancements is RCW 9.94A.533. 

Subsection (3) imposes additional time for crimes committed with a 

firearm; subsection (4) does the same for other deadly weapons; and 

subsection (5) deals with crimes committed in jail or prison. Other 

sections address enhancements for prior DUis, for crimes committed with 

sexual motivation, for offenders who involved minors in gang crimes, and 

for other conduct. See id. The enhancement at issue here is listed in 

subsection (6): 

An additional twenty-four months shall be added to the standard 
sentence range for any ranked offense involving a violation of 
chapter 69.50 RCW if the offense was also a violation ofRCW 
69.50.4352 or 9.94A.827. All enhancements under this subsection 
shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, for all 
offenses sentenced under this chapter. 

RCW 9.94A.533(6). 

2 RCW 69.50.435 includes the enhancement applicable here, for 
delivering drugs "within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop 
designated by the school district." RCW 69.50.435(1)(c). 
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The Court of Appeals relied on the pottion stating that the 

enhancements "shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions." 

Slip Op. at 12 (quoting RCW 9.94A.533(6)). But the Court of Appeals 

ignored the important differences among the sections ofRCW 9.94A.533. 

The firearm-enhancement section, unlike the drug-zone enhancement 

section, explicitly mandates that multiple enhancements are to run 

consecutively to each other, not just the base sentence: 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, all firearm 
enhancements under this section are mandatory, shall be served in 
total confmement, and shall nm consecutively to all other 
sentencing provisions, including other firearm or deadly 
weapon enhancements, for all offenses sentenced under this 
chapter. 

RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e) (emphasis added). Subsection (e) thus has the 

language the Court of Appeals here referenced, plus a clause mandating 

that the enhancements must run consecutively to each other. Under the 

Court of Appeals' reasoning in this case, the two clauses are redundant. 

But "a court must not interpret a statute in any way that renders any 

portion meaningless or superfluous." State v. K.L.B., 180 Wn.2d 735,742, 

328 P.3d 886 (2014). 

A prior version of the firearm-enhancement section looked more 

like the cutTent drug crimes enhancement section: 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any and all firearm 
enhancements under this section are mandatory, shall be served in 
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total confmement, and shall not run concurrently with any other 
sentencing provisions. 

In re the Postsentence Review ofCharles, 135 Wn.2d 239, 247, 955 P.2d 

798 (1998) (quoting former RCW 9.94A.310(3)(e)). This Court held that 

under this prior version of the statute, firearm enhancements did not run 

consecutively to each other, but only to the base sentence. Charles, 135 

Wn.2d at 253-54. The only time enhancements were to run consecutively 

to each other is if the underlying sentences themselves were consecutive. 

Id at 254. This makes sense, because "[a]n enhancement is not a separate 

sentence; rather, it is a statutorily mandated increase to an offender's 

sentence range because of a specified factor in the commission of the 

offense." !d. at 253. 

In response to Charles, the Legislature amended the statute to add 

the language emphasized above:" ... shall run consecutively to all other 

sentencing provisions, including other firearm or deadly weapon 

enhancements." State v. DeSantiago, 149 Wn.2d 402,415-16, 68 P.3d 

1065 (2003) (citing RCW 9.94A.510(3)(e); RCW 9.94A.510(4)(e); Laws 

of 1998, ch. 235 § 1)). Following the amendments, "all firearm and 

deadly weapon enhancements are mandatory and, where multiple 

enhancements are imposed, they must be served consecutively to base 
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sentences and to any other enhancements." DeSantiago, 140 Wn.2d at 

416. 

Critically, the Legislature did not add this language to the section 

at issue here. Although subsection (6) mandates that a drug-crime 

enhancement run consecutively to the base sentence (and to other 

enhancements applied to the same count), it does not state that it runs 

consecutively to enhancements on other counts. Compare RCW 

9.94A.533(6) with RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e). It is clear that the Legislature 

knew how to state that enhancements must run consecutively to each 

other, because it said so in the firearm and deadly weapon enhancement 

sections. RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e). The fact that the legislature explicitly 

provided for consecutive enhancements in one section of the statute shows 

it did not intend for comts to impose consecutive enhancements in the 

section in which it omitted such language. See State v. Roberts, 117 Wn. 

2d 576, 586, 817 P.2d 855 (1991) ("Where the Legislature uses certain 

statutory language in one instance, and different language in another, there 

is a difference in legislative intent"). 

Thus, as to the drug-zone enhancements, the reasoning of Charles 

controls, and the enhancements do not run consecutively to each other. 

Rather, for each count, the enhancement increases the standard range by 

two yeal's. The court then sentences the defendant within the enhanced 
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range for each count. The question of whether the sentences mn 

concunently or consecutively is determined by reference to RCW 

9.94A.589. See Charles, 135 Wn.2d at 254 (citing former RCW 

9.94A.400, since recodified at 9.94A.589). The crimes at issue here are 

not serious violent offenses; therefore, the sentences are concurrent, not 

consecutive. RCW 9.94A.589. 

Because the above issue is an important question of statutory 

construction, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

E. CONCLUSION 

review. 

Timothy Conover respectfully requests that this Court grant