RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 17, 2014, 1:47 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 90782-0

# IN THE SUPREME COURT — OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧,

TIMOTHY CONOVER,

Petitioner.

# RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
DAVID PHELAN/WSBA #36637
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080



###

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, represented by Susan I. Baur,
Prosecuting Attorney for Cowlitz County, by and through her deputy,
David L. Phelan, responds to Petitioner Conover's request for review
of the Court of Appeals opinion in No. 44175-6-II, affirming his
conviction.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1.) Should this Court grant review regarding whether or not the inadvertent locking of a courtroom during trial, regardless of the length of time, constitutes a "closure" implicating the constitutional right to a public trial?
- 2.) Should this Court grant review regarding whether or not to reverse *State v. Pirtle*, where this court previously held that inclusion of the "abiding belief" language was not error?
- 3.) Should this Court grant review regarding whether or not RCW 9.94A.533(6) intended to run school bus stop enhancements consecutive to one another?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent generally accepts the Appellant's recitation of the facts.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

1.) THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THERE WAS NO PUBLIC TRIAL RIGHT VIOLATION

There was no public trial right violation. A public trial right violation occurs when there is a closure of the courtroom and the trial

court does not consider the *Bone-Club* factors. *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515(2005). Because there was no specific attempt to close the courtroom for any of the proceedings, there can be no public trial right violation.

There was no "closure" of the courtroom. The Washington State Supreme Court declared that "a 'closure' of a courtroom occurs when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave." State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). No closure occurred in this case because the courtroom was never purposefully closed to spectators.

The record shows there was no purposeful closure of the courtroom. The situation only occurred because a bailiff inadvertently forgot to unlock the courtroom doors. The court never intended to exclude any member of the public. 2 CP 178. The doors were locked for approximately 27 minutes. 2 CP 177. The doors had been locked over the lunch-hour to secure electronics in the courtroom. 2 CP 178. There was no sign or announcement suggesting that the door was locked. 2 CP 178. As soon as the error was discovered as to the locked doors, the one person who had tried to enter the courtroom was allowed to enter. 2 CP 178. Without any evidence of a member of the public being excluded, or an order from the court closing the courtroom, there is no evidence of a closure. The

facts here simply do not amount to a "closure" for purposes of the public trial right.

No court in the State of Washington has held that anything even approaching these facts was a closure that warranted reversal. Every case cited by the Appellant is based on a purposeful closure of the courtroom. The Washington State Supreme Court has recognized, in *State v. Brightman*, that there are some cases involving brief and inadvertent closures that do not necessarily implicate or violate the public trial right. 155 Wn.2d at 517, *citing Peterson v. Williams*, 85 F.3d 39, 42-43 (2nd Cir. 1996) (Short inadvertent closure not a violation) *and U.S. v. Al-Smadi*, 15 F.3d 153, 154-55 (10th Cir. 1994)(trial ran 20 minutes after courthouse door locked and defendant's family excluded, not a violation), *and Snyder v. Coiner*, 510 F.2d 224, 230 (4th Cir. 1975)(bailiff's decision to deny people from entering or leaving courtroom during argument for a short time and corrected quickly by the judge not a violation).

It IS relevant whether the closure was intentional or inadvertent, in spite of the Appellant's citation to *Walton v. Briley*. In that case, the trial court held the first two portions of the jury trial were held in the late evening, after the courthouse had been closed and locked for the night. *Walton v. Briley*, 361 F.3d 431, 432 (7th Cir. 2004). Interested parties were prevented from entering the courtroom on three separate occasions. *Id.* The specific decision by

the judge as to the timing of trying the case led to a *de facto* closure, since the decision directly resulted in the exclusion of the public.

Moreover, exclusion was an obvious and likely result. Even that court, however, acknowledged that different circumstances could lead to different results, distinguishing a 10th circuit case on the fact that the trial there began during normal hours and ran late, as opposed to the trial in *Walton*, which only began after the courthouse had closed for the night. *Id.* at 433, *citing Al-Smadi*, 15 F.3d at 154. So, even the court that said it is constitutionally irrelevant whether the closure was intentional, acknowledged the difference between an intentional act that precluded the public, and an inadvertent closure.

There was no purposeful closure of the courtroom, so there can be no public trial violation. Moreover, the only person who tried to enter the courtroom during the time of the inadvertent closure was immediately allowed to enter. No person of the public was actually excluded from the proceedings. Because there was no public trial right violation, this court should deny the Petitioner's request for review.

2.) THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE LANGUAGE IN WPIC 4.01 PASSES CONSTITUTIONAL MUSTER, AS THIS COURT HELD IN PIRTLE

The reasonable doubt instruction given in this case was lawful and appropriate, there was no error. The particular language in question, the "abiding belief" statement at the end of WPIC 4.01, has

been vetted by this very court in *Pirtle*. It is not error to include the bracketed text containing the abiding belief language. *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 658 (1995). The inclusion of such language in this case was not error.

The Petitioner's argument for review based on the instruction requires this court to find that the abiding belief language amounts to an improper instruction on reasonable doubt. *Pirtle* made clear that the abiding belief language was not improper. *Id.* Unless this court wishes to reconsider it's determination in *Pirtle*, review is unnecessary. This case does not warrant review.

3.) THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THERE IS NO AMBIGUITY REGARDING THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT THAT SCHOOL-ZONE ENHANCEMENTS RUN CONSECUTIVE TO ONE ANOTHER

There is no ambiguity regarding the legislature's intent that school zone enhancements run consecutive to one another. The point of statutory construction, and the court's overall objective, is to determine the legislature's intent. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9 (2002). "[I]f the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." Id. at 9-10. Such "plain meaning" is determined by looking to the ordinary meaning of the statute, as well as the context of the statute, related provisions and the statutory scheme as a whole. Wash. Pub. Ports Ass'n v. Dep't of Revenue, 148 Wn.2d 637, 645 (2003). If there is still room for more

than one meaningful interpretation, the statute is ambiguous. *Id.* If ambiguous, the court would apply the rule of lenity and apply the statute in favor of the defendant. *In re PRP of Charles*, 135 Wn.2d 239, 249 (1998). The rule of lenity, however, only applies when there is no significant evidence of contrary legislative intent. *Id.* There is evidence that the legislature intended consecutive application of all enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533(6).

The legislature intended school zone enhancements to run consecutive to all other sentencing provisions, as well as one another. The evidence of legislative intent is shown by the legislature's response to State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596 (2005). The Court in that case interpreted former RCW 9.94A.310(6), which read "twenty-four months shall be added to the standard sentence range for any ranked offense involving a violation of Chapter 69.50 RCW if the offense was also a violation of RCW 69.50.435 or 9.94A.605". *Id.* at 601-02. Petitioners had been sentenced to two enhancements under then RCW 9.94A.310(6), the bus stop enhancement (RCW 69.50.435) and the enhancement for manufacturing methamphetamine with someone under the age of 18 present (then RCW 9.94A.605). Id. at 600. Both enhancements applied to a single count of unlawful manufacture of methamphetamine. Id. After substantial analysis, the Court found that former RCW 9.94A.310(6) was ambiguous as to whether or not it intended for the enhancements to run consecutive to one another and

applied the rule of lenity. *Id.* at 604. The following year, the legislature amended the statute adding language meant to clear up the ambiguity.

In response to *Jacobs*, the legislature amended RCW 9.94A.533(6) in 2006, adding a sentence, "All enhancements under this subsection shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter." Looking to the House Bill Report governing the change to the statute, it is clear that the intent of the change was to ensure all such enhancements under that provision run consecutive to each other and everything else. The House Bill report noted that in *Jacobs*:

...the defendants challenged the statutory language regarding the sentence enhancements for violations of the UCSA on the grounds that they believed multiple sentence enhancements should be applied concurrently instead of consecutively. The courts concluded that the statutory language appeared ambiguous and as a result, under the rule of lenity, it was ruled that sentencing courts should apply multiple sentencing enhancements concurrently to each other.

H.B. REP. on Second Substitute H.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 7, 13–14 (2006). Though the legislature put the wrong citation in the House Bill Report (citing the Court of Appeals case that had actually upheld the application of consecutive sentences), the remarks clearly and accurately describe the Court's decision in *Jacobs*. This reference is contained in a number of different bill reports. ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE on Final Bill Report S.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg.

Sess., at 4 (Wash.2006); ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE S.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 2, 5 (Wash.2006); H.B. REP.. on Second Substitute H.B. 6239, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 7, 13–14 (2006). There is clear notice of the intent of the legislature.

The Petitioner's argument regarding the legislature's failure to add the specific language suggesting that multiple enhancements applied under the same statute should run consecutive to one another wilts in light of the legislative intent show by the specific reference to *Jacobs*. Remember, in *Jacobs*, this Court ruled on whether two enhancements, BOTH from RCW 9.94A.533(6) could be run consecutive to one another. The intent of the legislature is clear. Enhancements applied under RCW 9.94A.533(6) must be run consecutive to any other sentencing provision, including other enhancements applied under that section.

Because there is clear evidence of legislative intent, this court should deny review.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court of Washington should deny the Petition for Review. No new constitutional issues are raised, there are no splits of authority, and the decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with the law of the State of Washington.